
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

THURSDAY 19 JANUARY 2023 at 6pm. 

 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 

CIVIC SUITE, SOLIHULL 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live broadcast and recorded content will 
be available to view on the Council’s website. 
 
By entering the meeting room and using the public seating area you are consenting to 
being filmed.   If members of the public do not wish to be filmed, make the Clerk aware 
of this so suitable seating can be found. 
 
Further information about webcasting can be found at the following link: 
 
Any person taking part in the meeting is reminded not to disclose personal information 
about any third party. 

 
 
 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE  
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: Councillors R Sleigh OBE (Chairman), 
I Courts, M Carthew, T Dicicco, 
A Mackiewicz, M McLoughlin, S Rymer and 
Ms M Hurt. 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
David Acton 
Tel: 0121 704 6104 
Email:  
 
Date 12 January 2023 
 

 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

 
THURSDAY 19 JANUARY 2023 

 
AGENDA 

 
Mayor/Chairman of the meeting to announce: 
 
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live via the 

internet and the record will be archived for future viewing.’ 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
To answer questions, if any, asked by any resident of the Borough pursuant to 
Standing Orders 
 

4.  MINUTES (Pages 7 - 8) 
To confirm as a true record the minutes of the Remuneration Committee held on 
14 November 2022. 
 

5.  PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2023 (Pages 9 - 32) 
1.1 To present to the Remuneration Committee the Council’s Pay Policy 
Statement for 2023 that is fully compliant with Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act. 
1.2 The main changes to the Statement are set out in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.9 of 
this report. 
1.3 The Statement has been updated to reflect the statutory guidance on 
Special Severance Payments that was discussed at Remuneration Committee 
on the 14 November 2022.  



 
6.  STATUTORY GENDER PAY GAP REPORTING (Pages 33 - 50) 

To present the Council’s Gender Pay Gap (GPG) statutory calculations and draft 
report for publication to enable the Council to fulfil its annual statutory equality 
duties. 
 

7.  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
The meeting is likely not to be open to the press or public during discussion of 
the following items because the reports contain exempt information as defined in 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

8.  MINUTES (Pages 53 - 54) 
To confirm as a true record the private minutes of the Remuneration Committee 
held on 14 November 2022.  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE - 14 November 2022 

 
 

 

1  

Present: Councillors: M Brain, M Carthew, I Courts, T Dicicco, A Mackiewicz, M McLoughlin 
and R Sleigh OBE (Chairman), and Mrs M Hurt (Independent Member). 
 

Officers: David Acton – Democratic Services 
Adrian Cattell, Head of Human Resources 
Julie Cooper, Head Of Financial Operations 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
Councillor Stephen Rymer tended his apologies and Councillor Marcus Brain attended as his 
substitute. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of pecuniary or conflicts of interest from Members. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  

 
No questions or deputations were received. 
 

4. MINUTES  

 
Members were asked to consider and approve the minutes from the Remuneration Committee 
held on 6 July 2022. A couple of typographical errors were noted as follows: 

 Minute 5, paragraph 2, third line last word – should read ‘part-time’ instead of ‘apt-time’; 
and 

 Minute 5, paragraph 8, second line last word – should read ‘existed’ instead of ‘exited’. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the Remuneration Committee held on 6 July 2022, subject to the 
typographical changes, were confirmed as a true record. 

 

5. SEVERANCE CASES APPROVED 2021/22  
 
The Head of Financial Operations advised Members this was an annual report which covered 
the approved severance cases for 2021/22. 
There had been 33 severance cases, the majority as a result of service changes in a number of 
directorates, with the total cost being £799,913 of which £53,881 was funded from the 
severance reserve and £746,032 from individual directorates/school budgets. 
 

RESOLVED 
The Committee noted the report. 

 

6. SPECIAL SEVERANCE PAYMENTS  
 
The Head of Human Resources informed members of the new Statutory Guidance setting out 
the obligations placed on Local Authorities when making Special Severance Payments (SSPs). 
The SSP Guidance was issued under section 26 of the Local Government Act 1999, and came 
into effect on 12 May 2022. 
 
Whilst the Local Government Association had still to clarify some points the Guidance did set 
out that SSPs do not normally represent value for money and should only be considered in 
exceptional circumstances, outlined the criteria to be considered in the exceptional 
circumstances in which it may be appropriate to make a SSP, and clarified the disclosure and 
reporting requirements for SSP.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE - 14 November 2022 

 
 

 

2  

In the exceptional circumstances where it is decided that a SSP should be paid, it is the 
responsibility of the Council to ensure the SSP is fair, proportionate, lawful and provides value 
for money for the taxpayer. 
 

RESOLVED 
The Committee noted the report, including the revised approval arrangements detailed 
in advance of receiving an updated Pay Policy Statement for consideration at its 
meeting on 19 January 2023 and then Full Council on 7 February 2023 for approval. 

 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

The Chairman did move that the press and public be now excluded from the remainder of the 
business to be transacted on the grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

8. SEVERANCE CASES 2021/22 
The information provided was an appendix to agenda item 5. 
 

Page 8



 
Meeting date: 
 
Report to: 
 
Report title:  
 
Report from: 
 
Report author/lead 
contact officer:   
 

19 January 2023 
 
Remuneration Committee 
 
Pay Policy Statement 2023  
 
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive  
 

Adrian Cattell – Head of Human Resources 
acattell@solihull.gov.uk   Tel: 0121 704 6038 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

 

 
Public/private 
report: 
 

Public 

  

 
1. Executive Summary 

 To present to the Remuneration Committee the Council’s Pay Policy Statement for 
2023 that is fully compliant with Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act. 

 The main changes to the Statement are set out in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.9 of this report. 

 The Statement has been updated to reflect the statutory guidance on Special 
Severance Payments that was discussed at Remuneration Committee on the 14 
November 2022.  

2. Decision(s) Recommended 

 The Committee is asked to recommend that the Council’s Pay Policy Statement for 
2023 is approved at the next Full Council meeting on 7 February 2023. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:acattell@solihull.gov.uk


Report Title: Pay Policy Statement 2023 
 
3. Matters for Consideration  

 Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to produce on an 
annual basis a Pay Policy Statement which must be approved by Full Council and 
then published no later than the 31 March of each year. The Council’s proposed Pay 
Policy Statement for 2023 is attached as Appendix 1. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

 The Pay Policy Statement excludes the pay of employees working in local authority 
schools. The salaries referred to in the statement are based on rates effective from 1 
April 2022.  

 As part of the April 2022 pay settlement it was agreed that effective from 1 April 2023 
SCP 1 would be deleted from the NJC pay spine. This means from that date the 
bottom of the pay spine for Band A will increase from £20,258 to £20,441 (this 
excludes the April 2023 pay award). 

 The multiple between the lowest paid employee (full time equivalent) and the Chief 
Executive (see paragraph 11.4) is 1:8.  This is a reduction from 1:8.9 in 2022. 

 The multiple between the median full time equivalent salary and the Chief Executive is 
1:4.9 down from 1:5.2 in 2022. 

 There are no changes to the number of posts at Director 1 or Director 2 level. 

 The number of posts at Assistant Director level has increased from 11 to 12.  This is 
reflective of an additional role at this level in Childrens’ Services following a review of 
the senior management structure in the Directorate.  

 The number of posts at Head of Service band J has reduced from 28 to 27.  This 
change is as a result of a regrade of a Head of Service role in Economy and 
Infrastructure from Band I to J; and two COVID Advisory roles at this level coming to 
an end in Public Health and Commissioning.  

 The are no changes to the number of posts at Head of Service band I.   

 This years’ Statement has been amended to reflect the new statutory guidance on 
making Special Severance Payments that came into effect in May 2022.  The details 
are set out in Sections 9.4 – 9.7 of the Statement. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

 It is a legal requirement for the Council to publish a legally compliant Pay Policy 

Page 10



Statement by 31 March 2023. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: 
Contribution: 

People and Communities: 

1. Improving outcomes for children and 
young people in Solihull. 

2. Good quality, responsive, and dignified 
care and support for Adults in Solihull 
when they need it. 

3. Take action to improve life chances and 
health outcomes in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

4. Enable communities to thrive. 

The Pay Policy Statement provides 
transparency and accountability with 
regards to the Council’s approach to setting 
pay. 

Economy: 

5. Develop and promote the borough’s 
economy, with a focus on revitalising 
our town and local centres. 

6. Maximising the opportunities of UK 
Central and HS2. 

7. Increase the supply of affordable and 
social housing that is environmentally 
sustainable. 

N/A 

Environment: 

8. Enhance our natural environment, 
improve air quality and reduce net 
carbon emissions. 

N/A 

9. Promote employee wellbeing The Pay Policy Statement provides 
transparency and accountability with 
regards to the Council’s approach to setting 
pay. 

Page 11

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/The-Council-plan


 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 N/A 

 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 N/A 

 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 Full Council is legally required to approve a Pay Policy Statement no later than 31 
March 2023. 

 Risk implications, including Risk Appetite: 

6.5.1 N/A 

 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 The Council holds robust statistical data on pay and reward. In determining the pay 
and remuneration of all its employees, the Council has applied due regard to equality 
in the management of its pay and employment policies to ensure that no employee is 
treated less favourably or disadvantaged than another employee.   

6.6.2 Through the application of the Council’s Job Evaluation Scheme, roles are evaluated 
in accordance with the equality tested National Job Evaluation Scheme to ensure 
there is fairness and transparency in salary grades that vary according to the job role 
and level of responsibility.  

 Linkages to our work with the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), Local 
Enterprise Partnership or the Birmingham & Solihull Integrated Care System (ICS): 

6.7.1 N/A 

7. List of appendices referred to 

 Appendix 1 – Pay Policy Statement 2023 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

 NA 

9. List of Other Relevant Documents 

 NA 

Page 12



Page 1 of 21 
 

 

 

 

 

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – 2023 

 
1.  Introduction and Purpose 

 

1.1 Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power to 
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit”. 
This Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out Solihull Council’s approach to pay 
policy in accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 
The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees (excluding those working in local authority 
schools) by identifying: 

 

 the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;

 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, as 
defined by the relevant legislation;

 the Remuneration Committee responsibilities for ensuring the provisions set out in 
this statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and recommending 
any amendments to Full Council.

 
1.2 For the purpose of this document: 

 
‘Workforce’ is defined as all Local Authority employees, excluding those working 
in schools. 

 
‘Full Council’ is a formal meeting to which all 51 members of the Council are 
invited and is the body that approves the Council's major plans and policies which 
are implemented by the Cabinet. 

 

1.3 The ‘Chief Officers’ referred to in this statement are detailed in paragraphs 7.1a) –
7.1c). 

 
1.4 Once approved by Full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect 

and will be reviewed annually in accordance with the relevant legislation prevailing at 
that time. The Pay Policy Statement may be amended during the course of a financial 
year to reflect changes or developments in the Council’s pay policy. However, any 
amendments will only be made by resolution of Full Council. Any amended statement 
will be published as soon as is reasonably practicable. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



Page 2 of 21 
 

2. Legislative Framework 

 

2.1 In determining the pay and remuneration of all its employees, the Council will comply 
with all relevant employment legislation. This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part-time 
Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, The 
Agency Workers Regulations 2010 and, where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations. 

 

2.2 With regard to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, the 
Council will ensure there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all 
pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of equality-proofed Job 
Evaluation mechanisms which directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands 
and responsibilities of the role. 

 
2.3 In accordance with the Equality Act 2010 the Council published its Gender Pay Gap 

Report based on pay information as at 31 March 2022. 
 
3. Accountability and Decision Making 

 

3.1 In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Remuneration Committee is 
authorised to determine any activity within its terms of reference, the parameters of 
the Pay Policy and the budget framework agreed by the Council. The full Terms of 
Reference of the Remuneration Committee are shown at Appendix A. 

 
4. Pay Structure (see also Section 6) 

 

4.1 The pay of Chief Officers is referred to in paragraph 7.1. 
 

4.2 The Council currently uses the nationally negotiated pay spine as the basis for its 
local grading structure.  Points 1-43 of the pay spine are determined nationally and 
points 44-70 were determined locally in April 2020 as part of the Single Status 
Collective Agreement. With effect from April 2022, all NJC spinal column pay points 
(bands A to J) were increased by £1,925 per annum in accordance with NJC Cost of 
Living Pay award. This resulted in an increase equivalent to 10.5% at the bottom of 
band A and 2.49% at the top of Band J.  As part of the pay settlement it was agreed 
that with effect from 1 April 2023 SCP 1 would be permanently deleted.  

 
4.3 The Council remains committed to adherence with national pay bargaining in respect 

of the national pay spine.   
   

4.4 The pay structure as shown in Appendix B applies to all staff on NJC Terms and 
Conditions including those employed in Solihull schools and any increases are 
nationally negotiated. 

 
4.5 There are two groups of staff (excluding Chief Officers) who are not covered by the 

pay structure shown at Appendix B. They are those staff who transferred into the 
Council and whose pay is protected in law under the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) or who have historically been paid under Soulbury* terms 
and conditions. 

 
 
 

Page 14



Page 3 of 21 
 

*The Soulbury Committee was established in 1948 to provide voluntary collective 
bargaining machinery for advisory staff in local education authorities. The Council 
employs 12 staff members who are employed in accordance with Soulbury Terms 
and Conditions. In addition to the annual pay discussions, this Committee 
determines the national salary framework. 

 

4.6 In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, the 
Council has taken account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use 
of public resources. This is balanced against the need to attract, retain and motivate 
competent and talented staff on a sustainable basis to deliver the required public 
services. 

 

4.7 All pay related allowances paid as a means of remuneration for non-standard working 
patterns, are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated rates, having been 
determined from time-to-time in accordance with collective bargaining machinery 
and/or as determined by Council policy. 

 

4.8 New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant grade, 
although this can be varied where necessary to secure the most suitable candidate. 
From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay market in 
order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills and capability. 
The Market Forces policy was agreed by the Remuneration Committee in January 
2013 and will be reviewed in 2023. 

 
4.9 Where necessary the Council ensures the requirement for such is objectively justified 

by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using 
appropriate data sources available from within and outside the Local Government 
Sector. 

 
5. Incremental Progression 

 

5.1 There is no automatic progression through the incremental salary scale. Progression 
within the relevant grade is subject to achieving challenging objectives and routinely 
demonstrating corporately determined behavioural qualities, which are agreed in 
advance by managers and assessed annually. Any salary progression is dependent 
upon there being demonstrable evidence of achieving performance improvements and 
delivering defined targets. 

 
5.2 The Council's Performance and Development Review (PDR) Framework provides the 

means of recognising and valuing the individual contribution of every employee within 
the organisation. The framework is designed to be a motivator of performance, reward 
high achievement, support continued career development and recognise the 
importance of employee wellbeing. This scheme aims to support and maximise the 
potential of our workforce and is an enabler of the way we need to work to support the 
Council’s purpose and vision where everyone has an equal chance to be healthier, 
happier, safer and more prosperous through growth that creates opportunities for all.  

 

5.3 The ‘Scheme Guidance’ and ‘Employee and Manager Responsibilities’ set out the 
expectations of an employee and those of a manager and their role in making PDR a 
meaningful experience so everyone is clear. PDR is recognised as one of the core 
pillars of mandatory competencies for managers, underpinned by the requirement for 
every manager to undertake the core training or being assessed as competent in this 
professional area of expertise. 

Page 15



Page 4 of 21 
 

 

5.4 The framework enables every employee to: 
 understand what is required of them in their role;
 understand how their daily work and objectives link to performance plans and the 

Council's key priorities;
 receive constructive feedback on their performance;
 understand what is expected of them and what they can expect of each other as 

well as how their behaviours impact on others;
 explore and agree their development needs and options.

 
5.5 As part of the Performance and Development Review Framework the maximum award 

an employee can receive is one increment. Where employees are at the top of their 
grade, a non-consolidated award that is equivalent to one increment can be paid. 
These awards are only made to employees who deliver strong performance and are 
exemplary in displaying the Council’s behaviours and rated 1:1. In 2022, 481 
employees (20.48% of employees assessed) received a non-consolidated award. This 
is an increase from 447 employees who received a non-consolidated lump sum in the 
previous year (19.12% of employees assessed). 

 
5.6 From the Chief Executive down to first-level line managers, objective setting and 

measurement are part of the day-to-day skills of managing people. A programme of 
coaching and training has been established to support any employee who is required 
to review the performance of others. This is aimed at ensuring honest and regular 
feedback becomes the foundation of any performance conversation, and that all 
employees are treated fairly, equally and consistently. 

6. Senior Management Hierarchy 
 

Position Salary Grade 
Chief Executive Chief Executive 

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Deputy CE 

Director Director 1 
Director Director 2 
Assistant Director AD 
Head of Service Band J 
Head of Service Band I 

 

7. Senior Management Remuneration 
 

7.1 For the purposes of this statement, senior management means ‘chief officers’ as 
defined within S43 of the Localism Act. 

 
The posts falling within the statutory definition are set out below together with 
salaries effective from 1 April 2022.   

 
a) Chief Executive 

The salary for the post is £163,524. The salary falls within a range of three 
incremental points between £155,500 and a maximum of £163,524. 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



Page 5 of 21 
 

Additional payments are made for Returning Officer duties in years when 
national and regional elections are held. These Returning Officer fees are 
determined by Statutory Instrument and are paid by the Cabinet Office for 
parliamentary elections, the Home Office for Police and Crime 
Commissioner elections, and by the West Midlands Combined Authority for 
running their elections, rather than by the Council.   
 
In 2022 there were no elections for which additional payments were made. 
 
The duties of the Returning Officer are detailed in Appendix C. 

 
b) Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

The salary for the post is £139,174. The salary of the post falls within a range 
of three incremental points between £132,533 and a maximum of £139,174. 

 

c) Directors and Corporate Leadership Team Members 
 

Grade No. of Posts Salary Range (£) 

Director 1 4 123,440 – 129,467  

Director 2 0 96,806 – 103,440  
 

(Details of the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team are provided in 
Appendix C.) 

 
Other Directors 

 

Grade No. of Posts Salary Range (£) 

Assistant Director 12 86,892 – 92,569  

      
d) Other Officers (Heads of Service and/or reports to a Director) 

 

Post No. of Posts Salary Range (£) 

Head of Service / Band J 27 74,958 – 79,154  

Head of Service / Band I 18 65,373 – 68,558  

Other staff reporting to 
Directors 

1 55,859 – 62,205 

4  33,820 – 39,493 

 
The salaries quoted in section 7.1 are effective from 1 April 2022.  

 
8. Recruitment of Chief Officers 

 

8.1 When recruiting to all posts, the Council takes full and proper account of its own 
Recruitment and Equality & Diversity policies. 

 
8.2 The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed chief 

officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the 
time of recruitment. Where the Council is unable to recruit to a post at the designated 
grade, it will consider the use of market forces supplements in accordance with its 
relevant policies. 

 
 
 

Page 17



Page 6 of 21 
 

8.3 Where the Council remains unable to recruit chief officers under a contract of service, 
or there is a need for interim support to provide cover for a vacant substantive chief 
officer post, the Council will, where necessary, consider engaging individuals under 
‘contracts for service’. These will be sourced through a relevant procurement process 
ensuring the council is able to demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits 
from competition in securing the relevant service. 

 
9. Payments on Termination 

 
9.1 The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 

employment of chief officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, (within the 
terms of the Local Government Pension Scheme) is set out within its policy 
statements in accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2008 and 
Regulations 12 and 13 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, 
Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2008 (amended for the 2014 changes 
to the Pension Scheme). These statements are shown in Appendix D. 

 
9.2 In cases where severance payments are over £100,000, Full Council approval is 

required. All severance packages, where the total cost exceeds the annual salary 
(plus on-costs), require the agreement of Remuneration Committee members (the 
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive has delegated authority to 
approve these after consultation with members of the Remuneration Committee). 
Any severance packages above £100,000 are considered by the Remuneration 
Committee prior to being presented to Full Council. 

 
9.3 Where an employee leaves the Council through early retirement or redundancy, the 

maximum payback period will generally be 3 years.  The payback period is calculated 
by comparing the total cost to the Council of the early leaver payments to the annual 
gross salary saved.    In the case of a compulsory redundancy, the maximum 3 year 
period will still apply, unless otherwise approved by the relevant Director and the 
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.  

 
9.4 New statutory guidance on making Special Severance Payments (SSP) issued under 

section 26 of the Local Government Act 1999, came into effect in May 2022, setting 
out the obligations placed on Local Authorities in this regard. SSPs are described as 
payments made outside of statutory, contractual or other requirements when leaving 
employment in public service.  

 
9.5 The Council’s approach in determining any case for a SSP will firstly be to ensure 

these are only paid in exceptional circumstances and where it is demonstrated that 
all relevant internal policies have been fully explored and alternate actions 
considered; and that any SSP arrangements are fair, proportionate, lawful and 
provide value for money.  

 
9.6 SSPs that are of £100,000 and above must be approved by Full Council; payments 

of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000, must be personally approved and signed 
off by the Head of Paid Service with a clear record of the Leader’s approval and that 
of any others who have signed off the payment and payments below £20,000 require 
the approval of the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive in line with the 
Councils scheme of delegation. 

 
9.7 Where the proposed SSP is to the Head of Paid Service, to avoid a conflict of interest 

the payment will be approved by a panel including at least two independent persons. 
 
   

Page 18



Page 7 of 21 
 

10. Publication 
 

10.1 Upon approval by the Full Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s 
Website. In addition, for posts where an employee reports to the Chief Executive, the 
Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts will include a note setting out the total 
amount (gross) of: 

 
 salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the current and 

previous year;
 any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and previous 

year;
 any sums payable by way of expenses;
 any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments connected 

with termination;
 any other emoluments;
 total remuneration.

11. Lowest Paid Employees 
 

11.1 The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and chief officers is 
determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading structures as set 
out earlier in this policy statement. The lowest paid Council employees are those on 
Band A, £20,258 – £20,812 per annum.  From April 2023, the bottom of the pay scale 
for Band A will increase to £20,441 in line with the April 2022 pay settlement as 
outlined in paragraph 4.2.  

 
11.2 From 1 April 2023 the National Living Wage will increase for individuals aged 23 and 

over from £9.50 to £10.42 per hour. This equates to a minimum annual salary of 
£20,103.     

 
11.3 The statutory guidance under the Localism Act recommends the use of pay multiples 

as a means of measuring the relationship between pay rates across the workforce and 
that of senior managers, as included within the Hutton ‘Review of Fair Pay in the Public 
Sector (2010)’. The Hutton Report was asked by Government to explore the case for 
a fixed limit on dispersion of pay through a requirement that no public sector manager 
can earn more than 20 times the lowest paid person in the organisation. One of the 
key drivers behind the use of the multiple was concern due to the growth in the pay of 
senior managers and, specifically, in relation to the rest of the workforce. The report 
concluded that the relationship to median earnings was a more relevant measure and 
the Government’s Code of Recommended Practice on Data Transparency 
recommends the publication of the ratio between highest paid salary and the median 
salary of the whole of the authority’s workforce. 

 

11.4 The pay levels with effect from 1 April 2022 within the Council define the multiple 
between the lowest paid (full time equivalent) employee and the Chief Executive as 
1:8.0.  This is a reduction from 1:8.9 last year.  The median salary (based on April 
2022 rates) is £32,909 and the multiple between the median full time equivalent 
earnings and the Chief Executive is 1:4.9. This is a reduction from 1:5.2 last year. 

11.5 As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay markets, 
both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmark 
information, as appropriate. 

 

11.6 The Council employs Apprentices who are engaged on a training contract. The salary 
paid to these employees does not fall within the nationally negotiated pay spine and 
they are not included within the definition of ‘lowest paid employees’. 

Page 19



Page 8 of 21 
 

 

11.7 Effective from 1 April 2022 the minimum pay rate for all apprentices in Core Council 
was increased to £9.50 per hour irrespective of age. This rate is linked to the national 
minimum wage for apprentices who are aged 23 and over and will therefore increase 
to £10.42 per hour on 1 April 2023. 

 

12. Trade Union Facility Time 
 

12.1 The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations came into 
force on the 1 April 2017. The regulations place a legislative requirement on 
relevant public sector bodies to collate and publish, on an annual basis, a range of 
data on the amount and cost of facility time provided to trade union officials. In 
accordance with the Regulations the Council has published its’ information for the 
period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 on the Council web site, in addition to the 
central government website.   

 
 

Page 20



Page 9 of 21 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Remuneration Committee 
Terms of Reference 

 

Authority 
The Committee is authorised to determine any activity within its Terms of Reference and 
within the parameters of the Pay Policy and budget framework agreed by Council. 

 
Duties: 
1. To formulate and recommend to Council a Pay Policy for the remuneration of the Chief 

Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Directors and Heads of Service, having particular 
regard to the Council’s strategic objectives, equality duties and the need for transparency 
of process. 

 
Within the terms set out in the Pay Policy agreed by the Council: 
2. To consider and approve severance payments to any member of staff subject to the 

following: 
 

I. Where the total severance cost is less than the annual cost of the post, the 
Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive has delegated authority to 
approve the severance cost. 

 
II. Where the cost exceeds the annual cost of the post but is less than £100,000, 

delegated authority is granted to the Director of Resources & Deputy Chief 
Executive to approve the severance cost, after consultation with members of the 
Remuneration Committee and after receiving confirmation that a majority of 
members of the Committee support the decision. 

 
III. Severance cases that exceed £100,000 require the approval of Full Council. 

 
3. To consider and, where appropriate, approve all requests for market forces payments for 

a period of up to three years and review ongoing need. 
4. To advise on the Council’s position with regards to proposals relating to nationally agreed 

pay awards. 
5. To undertake reviews of relevant pay markets as and when required, and judge where to 

position Solihull Council in relation to other local authorities, taking into account what they 
are paying, relative performance and affordability. 

6. To approve changes to employee benefits which do not require an amendment to the Pay 
Policy. 

7. To ensure that all provisions regarding disclosure of remuneration are fulfilled. 
 
Membership 
The membership of the committee will be subject to “political balance” requirements and 
includes: 

 The Cabinet Member for Resources (Chair).

 Six other nominated elected members.

 An Independent Local Business Leader (Co-opted Non-Voting member).

Page 21



Page 10 of 21 
 

Quorum 
No business shall be transacted unless five members of the Committee are present, 
including the Chair or Deputy Chair. 

 
Frequency of Meetings 
The Committee shall meet at least twice annually, but otherwise as required. The Chair 
may convene a meeting at any time. 

 
Reporting 
The decisions of the Remuneration Committee meetings, other than those requiring the 
approval of Full Council, shall be reported to the Council for information. 

Page 22



Page 11 of 21 
 

Appendix B 

Pay Structure October 2022 (Incl. April 2022 Pay Award) 

 

 
 

 

New grade ranges

A

1 £20,258 £20,258

2 £20,441 £20,441 B

3 £20,812 £20,812 £20,812

4 £21,189 £21,189

5 £21,575 £21,575

6 £21,968

7 £22,369 C

8 £22,777 £22,777

9 £23,194 £23,194

10 £23,620 £23,620

11 £24,054 £24,054

12 £24,496 £24,496

13 £24,948 £24,948

14 £25,409 £25,409

15 £25,878

16 £26,357

17 £26,845

18 £27,344

19 £27,852 D

20 £28,371 £28,371

21 £28,900 £28,900

22 £29,439 £29,439

23 £30,151 £30,151

24 £31,099 £31,099

25 £32,020 £32,020

26 £32,909 £32,909 E

27 £33,820 £33,820

28 £34,723 £34,723

29 £35,411 £35,411

30 £36,298 £36,298

31 £37,261 £37,261

32 £38,296 £38,296

33 £39,493 £39,493 F

34 £40,478 £40,478

35 £41,496 £41,496

36 £42,503 £42,503

37 £43,516 £43,516

38 £44,539 £44,539

39 £45,495 £45,495

40 £46,549 £46,549

41 £47,573

42 £48,587 G

43 £49,590 £49,590

44 £50,566 £50,566

45 £51,623 £51,623

46 £52,685 £52,685

47 £53,739 £53,739

48 £54,795 £54,795 H

49 £55,859 £55,859 £55,859

50 £56,911 £56,911

51 £57,973 £57,973

52 £59,031 £59,031

53 £60,085 £60,085

54 £61,144 £61,144

55 £62,205 £62,205

56 £63,261

57 £64,316 I

58 £65,373 £65,373

59 £66,437 £66,437

60 £67,490 £67,490

61 £68,558 £68,558

62 £69,611

63 £70,665

64 £71,721

65 £72,838

66 £73,894 J

67 £74,958 £74,958

68 £76,018 £76,018

69 £77,271 £77,271

70 £79,154 £79,154

SCP

Page 23



Page 12 of 21  

APPENDIX C 

The Corporate Leadership Team 
 

Solihull Council employs approximately 2715 employees (including apprentices and casuals 
but excluding schools), has a proposed annual revenue budget for 2023/24 of £188 million 
(indicative) and provides a wide range of public services to 217,487 residents. 

 

The Corporate Leadership Team is responsible for managing the activities of the Council’s 
workforce and for advising elected members on the potential implications of their decisions. 
By law, senior Council employees are not allowed to participate in any party political activity. 

 
The team consists of a: 
Chief Executive 
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 
Director of Economy and Infrastructure 
Director for Adult Care and Support 
Director for Children’s Services 
Director of Public Health 
An outline of the responsibilities of the roles of the Corporate Leadership Team is provided 
below. 

 
Chief Executive 
The Chief Executive is the Senior Officer who leads, and takes responsibility for, the work of 
the paid staff of the Council. The role of Chief Executive is a full-time appointment. Post 
holders are selected on merit, against objective criteria, following public advertisement. They 
are appointed by Full Council. 

 

The Chief Executive works closely with elected members to deliver: 

 Leadership - working with elected members to ensure strong and visible leadership and 
direction, encouraging and enabling managers to motivate and inspire their teams.

 Strategic Direction - ensuring all staff understand and adhere to the strategic aims of the 
Council and follow the direction set by the elected members.

 Policy Advice - acting as the principal policy adviser to the elected members of the Council 
to lead the development of workable strategies which will deliver their political objectives.

 Partnerships – supporting the leadership and development of strong local and regional 
partnership working to achieve improved outcomes and better public services for local 
people.

 Operational Management - overseeing financial and performance management, risk 
management, people management and change management within the Council.

 

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) 
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for all the Corporate 
Services of the Council. The Director undertakes the Chief Executive’s duties in their 
absence. As the Council’s nominated Section 151 Officer, the Director has statutory 
responsibility for ensuring the financial health and probity of the Local Authority. As well as 
deputising for the Chief Executive they also lead the Council’s strategic approach to 
financial planning and management; council tax and business rates collection and benefits 
administration; facilities and asset management; strategic land projects; Human 
Resources; information and communications technology; Democratic Services (including 
Monitoring Officer responsibility), Legal, Equality and Diversity, Corporate Performance, 
Policy and Information, Organisational and Workforce Development, Corporate 
Procurement, Audit, Health & Safety, Communications, Business Intelligence and 
Improvement and financial responsibilities for Solihull Community Housing. 

Page 24



Page 13 of 21  

Director of Economy & Infrastructure 
The Director has responsibility for all services associated with place – waste and recycling, 
parks, grounds maintenance, street cleansing, regulatory services, transport and 
highways, bereavement services and registrations, sustainability, promoting the economy 
and development in the Borough. The Director also has lead responsibility for the UK 
Central Programme, planning and for community related services - resettlement of 
refugees and new communities,  Libraries, Culture and Arts, Customer Services, 
Community and Voluntary Sector Relations, the Safer Solihull Partnership and housing 
and homelessness. 

Director for Adult Care and Support 
The Directors’ role includes that of the statutory Chief Officer post of Director of Adult Social 
Services. The Director of Adult Care and Support responsibilities include assessing local 
needs and ensuring availability of an appropriate range and quality of care and support 
services; leading an appropriate Council and multi-agency response to safeguarding adults; 
holding commissioned services to account for quality of care provision; promoting a whole 
Council response to older people and disabled adults and promoting the needs of adults 
across the wider Solihull community.  Full details of the statutory responsibilities can be 
found in the statutory guidance document available below. 
DH Guidance on the Statutory Chief Officer Post of the Director of Adult Social Services.pdf 

 
Director for Children’s Services 
In accordance with the statutory guidance, the Director of Children’s Services has 
professional responsibility for the leadership, strategy and effectiveness of local authority 
children’s services. The DCS is responsible for securing the provision of services which 
address the needs of all children and young people, including the most disadvantaged and 
vulnerable, and their families and carers. The DCS is responsible for the performance of 
local authority functions relating to the education and social care of children and young 
people. 

Director of Public Health 
In accordance with the statutory guidance, the Director of Public Health has overall 
responsibility for the health of the people of Solihull, for health improvement and the 
reduction of health inequalities, health protection and the development and commissioning 
of public health programmes and services. The Director also leads on Emergency Planning, 
Business Continuity, Resilience, Leisure services and Employment and Skills. 

Role of the Returning Officer 
The Returning Officer is the person who has the overall responsibility for the conduct of 
elections. The Returning Officer is an officer who is appointed by the Council, under the 
Representation of the People Act 1983. Whilst appointed by the Council, the role of the 
Returning Officer is one of a personal nature, and distinct and separate from their duties as 
an employee of the Council. 
 
The Returning Officer is responsible for: 
 the nomination process for candidates and political parties;
 provision and notification of polling stations;
 appointment of Presiding Officers and polling clerks;
 appropriate administration and security of polling stations;
 preparation of all ballot papers;
 the actual count and declaration of results;
 issue, receipt and counting of postal ballot papers;
 all candidates' election expenses returns;
 presentation of final account;
 reclamation of funding from external bodies, as prescribed.Page 25

file:///C:/Users/helen.flinter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/3FGEPLRX/DH%20Guidance%20on%20the%20Statutory%20Chief%20Officer%20Post%20of%20the%20Director%20of%20Adult%20Social%20Services.pdf


 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME POLICY STATEMENT 
1st APRIL 2020 (updated) 

 

Policy Statement for all Eligible Employees 
Under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, each scheme Employer must 
publish and keep under review a Statement of Policy to explain how it will apply certain 
discretions allowed under the Pension Regulations. 

 

This Statement is applicable to all individuals, excluding Councillors of  Solihull Metropolitan 
Borough Council (The Council), who are eligible to be members of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS). 

 
Pension Admission Agreements 

 

The Council has a choice on how pension admission agreements operate. The Council’s 
preference for contracts relating to new schools services contracts for periods of less than 5 
years is to elect to operate the “pass through” model. This does not apply to Academies or 
contracts let by Academies. All other contracts involving Council employees will be assessed 
on a case by case basis with the relevant Cabinet Member in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Resources deciding the most appropriate option. 

 
DISCRETIONS TO BE APPLIED UNDER THE LGPS REGULATIONS 2013 AND LGPS 
(TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS AND SAVINGS REGULATIONS 2014). 

 
REGULATION 16(2)e, 16(4)d and 17 

 
Explanation 
Where an active scheme member wishes to purchase extra annual pension of up to 
£6,500 (figure as at 1st April 2018) by making Additional Pension Contributions (APCs), the 
Employer can choose to contribute towards the cost of purchasing that extra pension via a 
Shared Cost Additional Pension Contribution (SCAPC). 

 
Policy 
Under Regulation 17 of the LGPS Regulations 2103, the Council will exercise the 
discretion to allow Local Government Pension Scheme members to contribute to a shared 
cost salary sacrifice additional voluntary contribution scheme. 

 
REGULATION 30(6) and TP11(2) 

 
Explanation 
A member who is aged 55 or over and, with their Employer’s consent, reduces their hours 
and/or grade, can then, but only with the agreement of the Employer, make an election to 
the administering authority for all or part payment of their accrued benefits without having 
retired from that employment. 

 

If payment of benefits occurs before age 65, the benefits are actuarially reduced in 
accordance with guidance issued by the government actuary. 

 
Page 15 of 21 

Page 26



Page 15 of 21  

The Employer may choose to waive the reduction in whole or in part. If the Employer chooses 
to do so, then the cost of waiving the reduction in whole or in part has to be paid to the fund. 

 
Policy 
Each specific case will be judged on its own merits, having fully considered service 
delivery and financial costs. 

 

This discretion will be exercised by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 
within his/her delegated authority or, if appropriate, the Council’s Remuneration Committee. 

 

REGULATION 30(8) 
 
Explanation 
The Employer has discretion to waive any actuarial reductions that would otherwise apply 
under Regulation 30(5) and Regulation 30(6) for active members, deferred members and 
suspended tier 3 ill-health pensioners who elect to receive early payment of benefits prior to 
normal pension age. 

 
Policy 
Each specific request will be assessed on its own merits. Where the Council determines that 
the benefits should not be reduced the cost would need to be funded by a lump-sum 
contribution into the pension fund. This discretion will only be exercised in cases where it 
can be demonstrated that the Council can fund the cost of release within a three year period. 

 

This discretion will be exercised by the Director of Resources within his/her delegated 
authority or if appropriate the Council’s Remuneration Committee. 

 
TP REGULATION 1(1)(c) of SCHEDULE 2 

 
Explanation 
The Employer has discretion to apply the 85 year rule protection to members who choose 
to voluntarily draw their benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60, (under paragraph 
1(1)(c) or Schedule 2 to the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014. 

 
Policy 
The Council has not approved “switching on” of the 85 year rule. 
Waiving of actuarial reductions will only be considered where there is a clear financial or 
operational advantage to the Council. 

 
This discretion is exercised by the Director of Resources within his/her delegated authority 
or, if appropriate, the Council’s Remuneration Committee. 

 

REGULATION 31 
 
Explanation 
The Employer has discretion to grant extra annual pension of up to £6,500 to an active 
scheme member or within 6 months of leaving to a member whose employment was 
terminated on the grounds of redundancy or business efficiency. 

 
 
 

Page 27



Page 16 of 21  

Policy 
The Council will judge each case on its merits, having fully considered service delivery and 
financial costs. 

 

This discretion is exercised by the Council’s Remuneration Committee. 

Page 28



Page 17 of 21  

DISCRETIONS TO BE APPLIED UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EARLY 
TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT) (DISCRETIONARY COMPENSATION) (ENGLAND AND 

WALES) REGULATIONS 2008 
 

REGULATION 5 (POWER TO INCREASE STATUTORY REDUNDANCY PAYMENTS) 
ABOVE THE WEEKLY PAY LIMIT CONTAINED WITHIN THE EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS 

ACT 1996 

 
 

Explanation 
Employers have the discretion to use actual weekly pay, if this is greater than the statutory 
maximum weekly pay, contained within the Employment Rights Act 1996 (as amended) 
when calculating a redundancy payment. 

 
Policy 
The Council will use actual weekly pay, if this is greater than the maximum stated in the act, 
for the purposes of calculating a redundancy payment. 

 
REGULATION 6 (DISCRETIONARY COMPENSATION FOR REDUNDANCY) 

 
Explanation 
Employers have the discretion to pay compensation up to a maximum of 104 weeks’ pay to 
an employee who ceases to be employed by reason of redundancy. This applies only where 
the council has not awarded an increase in total pension membership under regulation 12(b) 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended). Where a 
redundancy payment under the Employment Rights Act 1996 (as amended) (ERA), is also 
made then the equivalent to it shall be deducted from the compensation. 

 
Policy 
The Council will pay compensation at a level of 2 times the number of weeks’ redundancy 
as calculated using the Statutory Redundancy Payments ready reckoner (occurring on or 
after 1 October 2006) up to a maximum of 60 weeks. 

 

Where a redundancy payment is also made under the ERA then the equivalent to it shall be 
deducted from the above compensation. 

 
OCCUPATIONAL PENSIONS SCHEMES (INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
PROCEDURES REGULATIONS 1996 (AS AMENDED)) 

 
Explanation 
Responsibility for determinations of complaints regarding awards made under the Local 
Government Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) England and 
Wales) Regulations 2008 (as amended) now rest with your Employer. Your Employer must 
specify the job title and address of the person to whom applications should be directed. In 
the first instance you should write to the “stage 1” person, if you are then still dissatisfied 
with that decision you may write to the “stage 2” person. 

Page 29



Page 18 of 21  

Name of Employer: Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 

The “stage 1 person” is: Mr. Adrian Cattell 
Head of Human Resources 
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
Council House 
Manor Square 
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B91 3QB 

 
The “stage 2 person” is: Mr. Paul Johnson 

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
Council House 
Manor Square 
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B91 3QB 

Page 30



Page 19 of 21  

DISCRETIONS TO BE APPLIED UNDER THE LGPS (BENEFITS, MEMBERSHIP AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS) REGULATIONS 2007 (AS AMENDED) 

 
REGULATION 30A(3) Reg (MEMBER’S REQUEST FOR RE-INSTATEMENT OF A 

SUSPENDED TIER 3 ILL HEALTH PENSION) 

 
 

Explanation 
For a member on a suspended tier 3 Ill Health pension on or after age 55 and before age 
60 (under regulation 30 A (3) of the LGPS Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 
Regulations 2007) an application for reinstatement will be granted. 

 
Policy 
Each specific case will be judged equally and fairly on its own merits. 

 
REGULATION 12 BReg POWER OF EMPLOYING AUTHORITY TO INCREASE TOTAL 
MEMBERSHIP OF ACTIVE MEMBERS 

 
Explanation 
An Employer may agree to increase the total membership of an active member. 

 

A member’s total additional membership, including additional membership in respect of 
different employment, must not exceed 10 years. 

 
Policy 
Each specific case will be judged on its own merits, having fully considered service 
delivery and financial costs. The Remuneration Committee will exercise this discretion. 

 
The Council is not obliged by the regulations to publish a statement on the following 
discretions, but has chosen to do so. 

 
REGULATION 3 BReg (CONTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE BY ACTIVE MEMBER) 

 
Explanation 
Employers will determine the contribution rate payable based on whole-time pensionable 
pay for existing members at 1 April each year or at the commencement of employment. 

 

Where there has been a material change to a member’s pensionable pay in the course of 
the financial year, his employing authority may re-determine the contribution rate to be 
applied. 

 
Policy 
The Council will not amend the contribution band in the course of a financial year should 
there be a material change to a member’s pensionable pay. 

 
REGULATION 16 AReg (RE-EMPLOYED AND RE-JOINING DEFERRED MEMBERS) 

 
Explanation 
Where a deferred member becomes an active member again before becoming entitled to 
the immediate payment of retirement benefits in respect of his/her former membership, 
he/she may elect to have his/her former membership aggregated with his/her current active 
membership. An election must be made in writing to the member’s appropriate 

Page 31



Page 20 of 21  

administering authority before the expiry of the period of 12 months, beginning with the date 
that he/she again became an active member (or any such longer period as his/her Employer 
may allow). 

 
Policy 
The Council will only extend the period of 12 months in exceptional circumstances or 
where it was beyond the member’s control. 

 
REGULATION 22 AReg (OPTIONAL CONTRIBUTIONS DURING UNPAID ABSENCES) 

 

Explanation 
Employing Authorities have the Discretion to extend the period beyond 30 days for a 
person to make contributions. 

 
Policy 
The Council will extend the period of 30 days in circumstances beyond the member’s control 
or in exceptional circumstances. Such requests must be made in writing by the member. 

 
REGULATION 83 AReg – INWARD TRANSFERS OF PENSION RIGHTS 

 
Explanation 
A person who becomes an active member (of the LGPS) who has relevant pension rights 
with a previous Employer, may request his/her fund authority to accept a transfer value for 
some or all of his/her former rights. An election must be made in writing before the expiry of 
the period of 12 months, beginning with the date that he/she became an active member (or 
any such longer period as his/her Employer may allow). 

 

Policy 
The Council will extend the period of 12 months only in exceptional circumstances or 
where it was beyond the member’s control. 

 
From 1 June 2004, an amended Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure applies to 
active members of the LGPS and to others such as deferred and pensioner members, 
whose position may be affected by the decisions taken by their former Employer or 
LGPS administering authority. 

 
REGULATION 57 AReg (NOTIFICATION OF FIRST INSTANCE DECISIONS) 

 
Explanation 
Responsibility for determinations under the first stage of the procedure now rests with a 
“specified person” appointed by your (former) Employer. The Council must specify the job 
title and address of the person to whom applications should be directed. 

Name of Scheme Employer: Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

The specified person is: Mr. Adrian Cattell 
Head of Human Resources 
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull 
West Midlands B91 3QB 

Page 32



 
Meeting date: 
 
Report to: 
 
Report title:  
 
Report from: 
 
Report author/lead 
contact officer:   
 

19 January 2023 
 
Remuneration Committee 
 
Statutory Gender Pay Gap Reporting  
 
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive  
 
Karen Grant 
kgrant@solihull.gov.uk

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

 

 
Public/private 
report: 
 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:  
 

N/A 
 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 

 To present the Council’s Gender Pay Gap (GPG) statutory calculations and draft 
report for publication to enable the Council to fulfil its annual statutory equality duties.  

 The duty requires the Council to: 

(a) Upload the gender pay gap figures onto the Government Gender Pay Gap website 
by 30 March 2023. 

(b) Enhance the duty and signal a public commitment to reducing the gender pay gap 
by publishing a Gender Pay Gap narrative report and action plan by 30 March 2023. 

2. Decision(s) Recommended 

 Approve the Council’s Gender Pay Gap Report including the action plan attached at 
Appendix 1. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



Report Title: Statutory Gender Pay Gap Reporting 
 
3. Matters for Consideration  

 The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information Regulations) 2017,  came into 
force in March 2017 as part of the Equality Act 2010. The regulations apply to public 
bodies where they have 250 employees or more on the snapshot date of 31 March. 

      The Government’s aim through Gender Pay Gap reporting is to increase the pace of 
achieving greater gender equality and increased pay transparency.  The statutory 
calculations show the average hourly difference between a man’s and a woman’s 
remuneration expressed as a percentage as well as measuring the gender gaps in 
bonus payments to staff.  

       According to the Office for National Statistics (ONS), data from the Annual Survey of 
Hours and Earnings (ASHE) provisional results as at October 2022 for jobs in the 
United Kingdom, the data shows there was a UK median GPG of 14.9%, and a mean 
GPG of 13.9%.  

      The Council’s mean GPG reduced this year from 14.1% to 13.8% and its median GPG 
from 21.3% to 19.2%.  

 

Source: ONS ASHE October 2022. *ONS estimates based on the location where people work and not where they live-Work geography table  
7.12 .  ** Solihull Council figures 
 

 

 

 

 

Description  Median Mean 

United Kingdom: 14.9 13.9 

       Non-profit body or mutual association 18.4 15.3 

       Private sector 19.6 16.7 

       Public sector 15.9 13.6 

England* 15.6 14.6 

West Midlands* 15.4 13.4 

      Non-profit body or mutual association 13.8 12.6 

      Private sector 19.8 17.2 

      Public sector 18.8 14.7 

      Solihull Borough                      32.9            19.1 

      Solihull Council** 19.2 13.8 

Page 34



       A summary of the outcomes from the six statutory calculations for the Council are set 
out in the table below: 

 

Statutory calculations required 

 

 

Snapshot as at  
31 March 2022 
for reporting by 
30 March 2023  

 

Difference from 31 March 2021  

1. Mean average gender pay gap 

in hourly pay 

13.8% Reduced the gap by 0.3%  

2. Median average gender pay 

gap in hourly pay  

19.2% Reduced the gap by 2.1%  

3. Difference in mean bonus 

payments  

25.5% Reduced the gap by 4.8% 

4. Difference in median bonus 

payments 

20.8% Reduced the gap by 9.9%  

5. Bonus proportions = The 

proportions of male and female 

relevant employees who were 

paid bonus pay during the 

relevant period 

  Males 17.6% 
Females 18.0% 

Males 15.9% 

Females 13.7% 

6. Quartile Bands = the proportion 

of male and female relevant 

employees in each quartile pay 

band. 

Details are 
provided on 
pages 8-9 of the 
GPG Narrative 
Report 
(Appendix 1)  

 

 

      The Council still retains 74% women in the workforce where there are more women 
than men at the lower end of hourly pay scales and quartiles, more women choosing 
to work flexibly on reduced hours than men, as well as employees working historically 
in traditional gender specific roles. 

      Employee data continues to show that the lower paid roles in the Council are 
predominantly occupied by female employees so the distribution of the workforce and 
the decision to provide certain services in-house, has an impact on the gender pay 
gap figures as in previous years, using the examples of service areas such as the 
Council’s catering service.  

      The Council’s progress against the action plan is shown on pages 10-11 of the GPG 
report in Appendix 1. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

 The requirement to upload the GPG figures to the Government Website is a statutory 

Page 35



requirement.  

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

 To ensure we fulfil our statutory GPG requirement.  

6. Implications and Considerations 

 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: 
Contribution: 

People and Communities: 

1. Improving outcomes for children and 
young people in Solihull. 

2. Good quality, responsive, and dignified 
care and support for Adults in Solihull 
when they need it. 

3. Take action to improve life chances and 
health outcomes in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

4. Enable communities to thrive. 

 

Seeks to reduce and eliminate the gender 
pay gap that marginalises women in the 
workplace and in society. 

Addressing the GPG, will help build an 
equal and inclusive society. 

Economy: 

5. Develop and promote the borough’s 
economy, with a focus on revitalising 
our town and local centres. 

6. Maximising the opportunities of UK 
Central and HS2. 

7. Increase the supply of affordable and 
social housing that is environmentally 
sustainable. 

Increasing women’s participation in the 
workforce and closing the pay gap between 
women and men, will have a positive impact 
on economic growth. 

Increases choice, time and flexibility in 
where and how people travel to/from work. 

 

Environment: 

8. Enhance our natural environment, 
improve air quality and reduce net 
carbon emissions. 

Not directly. 

9. Promote employee wellbeing Pay is a key factor affecting staff wellbeing, 
motivation and relationships at work.   
Examining GPG factors and employment 
practices to ensure they are free from bias 
and discrimination and creates equality of 
opportunity, will have a positive affect for 
individuals and the organisation. 

Page 36

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/The-Council-plan


 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 The Corporate Leadership Team has been consulted on the outcome of the statutory 
GPG calculations and the Council’s GPG narrative report at Appendix 1.   

 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 There are no financial implications arising from the uploading of GPG results to the 
Government Website or publishing the narrative report on the Council’s website. 

 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 The report is compliant with the GPG statutory requirements. Furthermore, the 
narrative report at Appendix 1 seeks to examine the pay gap, adding comment as to 
mitigation and actions for future review. 

6.4.2 Government Office regularly sends out reminder notices to all organisations subject to 
the GPG regulations to ensure that they are compliant with the requirement to upload 
GPG calculations, which for public bodies, is by the 30 March 2023.  The last 
reminder received by the Council was on the 28 December 2022. 

 Risk implications, including Risk Appetite: 

6.5.1 There is a risk of reputational damage to the Council arising out of any failure to 
upload the information onto the Government website or publishing of the narrative 
report in Appendix 1 onto the Council’s website by the 30 March 2023. 

 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 The uploading and publishing of gender pay gap reporting by 30 March 2023 is in line 
with meeting the council’s statutory equality duty under The Equality Act 2010 
(Specific Duties and Public Authorities) 2017. 

6.6.2 Gender pay gap reporting also supports the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy and 
the wider council commitment in eliminating discrimination and advancing equality of 
opportunity for women. 

6.6.3 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has publicity informed 
organisations that those who fail to report may be subject to enforcement action under 
the Equality Act 2010 that includes public sector duty compliance notices, 
investigations, unlawful act notices, action plans, agreements, orders and public 
sector duty assessments.  

6.6.4 The (EHRC) has previously published an Enforcement Policy setting out what it will do 
to encourage employers to meet the gender pay gap regulations and the action they 
will take using its enforcement powers in respect of the Equality Act 2010 (Gender 
Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017. 

 Linkages to our work with the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), Local 

Page 37



Enterprise Partnership or the Birmingham & Solihull Integrated Care System (ICS): 

6.7.1 No direct link for statutory GPG reporting purposes 

7. List of appendices referred to 

 Appendix 1 - Gender Pay Gap Report and results for publication by 30 March 2023. 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

 Gender Pay Gap Report 2022, which is available on the Council’s website. 

9. List of Other Relevant Documents 

 N/A 

Page 38

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-03/Gender-pay-gap-report.pdf


 

 
 

 

 

  

Solihull MBC 

 

Gender Pay 

Gap Report 
Data as at 31 March 2022 for  

Reporting Deadline of  

30 March 2023 

 

Page 39



 

1 
 

Foreword 

Under regulations introduced in 2017 to the Equality Act 2010, public sector organisations with 

250 employees or more on the ‘snapshot date’ (31 March of each year), who are subject to the 

public duties under the Act, must report on their gender pay gap calculations by 30 March of each 

year and upload onto the Government website.  It is a legal requirement for all relevant employers 

to publish their gender pay gap statutory calculations on their own website. 

The gender pay gap refers to the difference in average hourly earnings of men and women as a 

percentage of men’s earnings. Addressing the gender pay gap is not about promoting women over 

men, nor equal pay issues, but it is about ensuring that there is an equal opportunity for women to 

progress within an organisation, and society as a whole. Using the Office for National Statistics 

(ONS) data from the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) provisional results as at 

October 2022, the median gender pay gap for the UK was 14.9% and the mean at 13.9%.   

Solihull Council can demonstrate that it pays men and women the same salary for work of equal 

value following the implementation of the Single Status Agreement in 2000 and uses the nationally 

negotiated pay spine as the basis for its local grading structure. Grades vary according to the level 

of responsibility and roles are evaluated through a job evaluation process in accordance with the 

equality tested National Job Evaluation Schemes.  

The Government also recommends to employers to publish a supporting narrative to the 

publication of the statutory gender pay gap information, to help anyone reading the figures to 

better understand the information and what the employer has done to analyse and close the gap. 

Each year the Council produces a narrative report to accompany the statutory publication of the 

Council’s gender pay gap calculations, which includes key actions it will take to reduce the gender 

pay gap and increase the pace of work towards gender balance across the organisation.  

We have noted the increase in the GPG for the Solihull borough where the Mean average 

increased from 14.1% to 19.1% and a borough Median average increased from 21.3% to 32.9%.  

We are conscious of the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic and the changes in working patterns, 

job roles or worker types locally and nationally which from ONS advice, may have impacted on 

their ASHE estimates from 2020 onwards.  ONS estimates for 2020 and 2021 are subject to more 

uncertainty than usual however the Council will continue to use ONS and Government published 

gender pay gap figures over the longer term to understand the trends.   

Page 10 and 11 of this report, provides a summary of how the Council has progressed on its 

planned GPG actions up to January 2023.  Page 12 give details of actions we will be completing in 

the year 2023/24. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

2 
 

Executive Summary  

Gender pay gap analysis shows the difference in average pay between all men and women in a 

workforce, expressed as a percentage of men’s earnings. ‘Workers’ are defined as those who 

count as ‘employees’ under the Equality Act 2010.  

There are two types of workers for gender pay gap calculations:  

(i) A Relevant employee - applies to all employed workers (including Apprentices) in the 

Council on the snapshot date regardless of hours/reduced hours or patterns of work.  

Relevant’ workers are only included in calculations for bonuses and quartile figures.  

  

(ii) Full Pay relevant employees are those workers (including Apprentices) used in the 

calculations of hourly rates of pay on the snapshot date who received their 

normal/ordinary contracted pay in March.  This is not the same as a full time equivalent 

post.  

 

Gender pay gap reporting is different to Equal Pay: 

  

          Equal Pay is about:        Gender Pay Gap is about 

 

                                                                                  

 

       -V- 

 

 

 

 

Local government employs over 1.5 million people, 75% of whom are women.  Solihull, like many 

other public sector organisations, has a similar workforce profile where a large percentage are 

women.  

 

 

 

Pay differences between men and 

women who carry out the same jobs, 

similar jobs or work of equal value. 

Men and women are paid equally for 

the same like work. 

Differences in average hourly pay and 

bonuses between all men and women 

in a workforce, expressed as a 

percentage of men’s earnings. 

Page 41



 

3 
 

Solihull Council - Workforce distribution by gender: 

 

Table A: 

                            

 

Table B:                                                      

 

 

Table C:   

 

26%

74%

Total of 2724 employees

Male Female

66%

34%

HOURS WORKED

Full time 30 hours or more Less than 30 hours a week

33.8%

11.5%

66.2%

88.5%

Full time 30 hours or more Less than 30 hours a week

Hours worked by gender

Male Female

Women make up the largest 

proportion of employees who 

work full and part time in the 

Council.  The proportion of 

males in full time work was 

three times more than those 

males who work part time (less 

than 30 hours a week).  

 

 

Although the number of employees in 

the Council has reduced from 2778 to  

2724 employees, the gender workforce 

split was the same as previous years.   

34% of Council employees worked 

either part-time (less than 30 hours per 

week) and 66% full time compared to 

the previous year where the split 

differed slightly where there was 37% 

part time and 63% full time.  

Page 42



 

4 
 

Table D below shows the workforce distribution as at 31 March 2022 in terms of gender and key 
job types in the Council: 

 
*Based on 2463 post classed as Full Pay Relevant employees on SMBC Job Evaluation Bands. Excludes TUPE posts.  

 

The table below shows the GPG mean average calculation per Directorate: 

 
 
 

Directorate 

     Employees      As at March 2022 As at March 
2021 

Male  Female  Hourly 
£/pence 
pay gap  

 % Pay gap % Pay gap 

Adult Care and Support 80 
 

353 £0.60 
More for 
females  

3.2%  
In favour of 
females  

1.4% 
In favour of 
females 
 

Childrens Services 105 485 £1.27  
Less for  
females 

5.6%  
In favour of 
males 

7.9% 
In favour of 
males 

Economy & Infrastructure 215 310 £3.18  
Less for  
females 

15.1%  
In favour of 
males 

15.3%  
In favour of 
males 

Public Health 24 77 £1.45  
Less for  
females 

6.3%  
In favour of 
males 

5.1%  
In favour of 
males 

Resources 281 678 £5.64  
Less for  
females 

25.6%  
In favour or 
males 

25.0%  
In favour of 
males 

Resources ex catering 
 

275 368 £1.79  
Less for  
females 

8.1%  
In favour of 
males   

8.1% 
In favour of 
males 

74%

79%

67%

61%

55%

53%

26%

21%

33%

39%

45%

47%

100%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Total workforce distribution

NMW, NLW, A to D  Front line & Support
services

E to F  Professional

G to H  Middle Managers

I (inc HOS) to J - Heads of Service

JNC Directors and Assistant Directors

Chief Executive

Table D: Workforce distribution - all SMBC Bands*

Female Male

Page 43



 

5 
 

Senior Management Representation  
 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT), led by the Chief Executive remained 
at six Chief Officers, however, the representation is now equally split to three men and three 
women compared to March 2021 where there were four women.  
 
There were 62 senior leaders, 34 females and 28 males. This was an increase of two males and 
three females from the previous year at Head of Service level and above.  All senior managers 
worked full time (30 hours and above) apart from one female who worked less than 30 hours a 
week.  
 
Analysis of gender pay gap data for senior leaders (excluding the Chief Executive hourly pay) has 
shown that there remains a slight mean average gender pay gap in favour of women.  As at March 
2021 the mean average was 2.77% or £1.11, to 31 March 2022 where the mean average was 
0.9% or £0.42 in favour of women.  This moves the senior management representation to a 
demonstratable good gender balance of pay between males and females. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

6 
 

Statutory Gender Pay Gap Calculations as at 31 March 2022 
 

Measures We Report On: 

There are six calculations we are required to report on from the Gender Pay Gap Regulations: 
 
    
Mean gender pay gap The difference between the mean hourly rate of pay of male full-pay relevant 

employees and that of female full-pay relevant employees. 
 

Median gender pay 
gap 

The difference between the median hourly rate of pay of male full-pay 
relevant employees and that of female full-pay relevant employees. 
 

Mean bonus gap The difference between the mean bonus pay paid to male relevant 
employees and that paid to female relevant employees. 
 

Median bonus gap The difference between the median bonus pay paid to male relevant 
employees and that paid to female relevant employees. 
 

Bonus proportions The proportions of male and female relevant employees who were paid a 
bonus pay during the relevant period. 
 

Quartile pay bands The proportions of male and female full-pay relevant employees in the lower, 
lower middle, upper middle and upper quartile pay bands. 
 

 

The mean, commonly known as the average, is calculated for the gender pay gap when you add 

up the hourly rates of all male full pay relevant employees and divide the figure by the number of 

male employees and then do the same for female full pay relevant employees.  Once this is 

completed you compare the two average hourly rates.  The mean gender pay gap is the 

percentage difference between average male pay and female pay. For example, if the mean 

hourly rate for a male is £10 and the mean hourly rate of a female is £8, then the gender pay gap 

amount is £2 less or 20%. So, for every £100 earned by a man, a woman would only earn £80. 

The median is the figure that falls in the middle of a range when male and then female hourly 

rates are lined up from smallest to largest. The median gap is the difference between the 

employee in the middle of the male hourly rate and the middle employee in the range of female 

hourly rate. The figure is then expressed, in GPG reporting terms as a %. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 

7 
 

The Six Statutory Gender Pay Gap Calculations for Solihull Council: 

 

 

 

 

Calculations 1-4 

 

                                                  Snapshot date 

As at 31 

March 2022 

As at 31 

March 2021 

As at 31 

March 2020 

Difference from 31 

March 21 results 

1. Mean average gender 
pay gap in hourly pay 

13.8% 14.1% 13.5% Down by 0.3% 

2.  Median average gender 
pay gap in hourly pay 

19.2% 21.3% 20.3% Down by 2.1% 

3.  Difference in mean 
bonus payments 

25.5% 30.3% 29.0% Down by 4.8% 

4.  Difference in median 
bonus payments 

20.8% 30.7% 33.5% Down by 9.9% 

 

ONS data has shown that the gender pay gap has been declining slowly over time; over the last 

decade it has fallen in the UK by approximately a quarter among all employees (full and part time). 

We have compared the Council’s gender pay gap results for the mean and median hourly pay to 

the Office of National Statistics (ONS)  Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) provisional 

earnings data for October 2022 for jobs in the United Kingdom in the table below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: ONS. ASHE October 2022. *ONS estimates based on the location where people work and not where they live -Work geography table 7.12.  
** Solihull Council figures 
 

 

The table above shows that the Median average GPG for the Council is more than 10% below the 

Median average for the borough but higher than the public sector in the West Midlands and the 

UK. The Council’s Mean GPG is lower that the borough average and the UK but slightly higher by 

0.4% to the West Midlands.  

 

 

Description  Median Mean 

United Kingdom: 14.9 13.9 
       Non-profit body or mutual association 18.4 15.3 
       Private sector 19.6 16.7 

       Public sector 15.9 13.6 

England* 15.6 14.6 
West Midlands* 15.4 13.4 
      Non-profit body or mutual association 13.8 12.6 

      Private sector 19.8 17.2 

      Public sector 18.8 14.7 

      Solihull Borough                     32.9           19.1 

      Solihull Council** 19.2 13.8 

Page 46

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/genderpaygapintheuk/2022


 

8 
 

Calculation 5 - Bonus Proportions: 

In terms of the public sector, bonus pay means any payment that is in the form of money or 

vouchers that relates to productivity, performance, incentive or commission. In Solihull Council this 

covers one-off performance payments and long service awards. Annual incremental values are not 

included as a bonus despite being performance related but are factored into ordinary pay. As 

such, the bonus pay calculations do not provide a full picture of performance related payments.  

 

 

          

 

 

 

         

         31 March 22              17.6%              18.0%           0.4 % - In favour of females 

         31 March 21                                       15.9%              13.7%           2.2% - In favour of males  

         31 March 20                                       10%                 14.1%           4.1% - In favour of females 

           

                      % Change from March 21                Up 1.7%           Up 4.3%                        

 

 

Calculation 6 -The Proportion of Full Pay Males and Females in Each Quartile Pay Band 

    

                                  

 

35.9 30.4
20.5 21.1

64.1 69.6
79.5 78.9

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

Upper Quartile Upper Middle
Quartile

Lower Middle
Quartile

Lower Quartile

Quartiles % representation

Male Female

The percentage of males 

and females receiving a 

bonus payment as a 

proportion of all 

employees: 

Percentage gap 

in bonus 

payments for 

females 

Page 47



 

9 
 

The table below compares the quartiles for last four years statutory reporting on the gender pay 

gap. It shows that the Council is in a similar position to last year’s outturn for all quartiles except 

the Lower middle earnings where there has been a decrease in the number of females in this 

quartile as the representation of males increased.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 31 March 2022  31 March 2021 31 March 2020  31 March 2019 

 

Quartile 
 

%  
% 

 
%  

 
%  

Male       Female 
 

Male       Female Male Female Male Female 

Upper earnings 
 
 
 

  35.9           64.1  36.0           64.0 36.4 63.6 37.6 62.4 

Upper middle 
earnings 
 

  30.4           69.6  30.1           69.9 29.5 70.5 29.6 70.4 

Lower middle 
earnings 
 

  20.5           79.5  16.9           83.1 19.8 80.2 19.7 80.3 

Lower earnings 
 
 
 

  21.1           78.9  21.0           79.0 19.4 80.7 18.3 81.7 

Page 48



 

10 
 

 

 

Action Plan to March 2023 

Activity Due By 
End  

Lead Officer Comments 

1 Target messages to managers and 
staff to ensure mandatory training 
on Equality and Diversity and 
Recruitment and Selection is 
completed and up to date.  

April 2022 Head of 
Equality & 
Diversity  

Completed at that time  
 
However further monitoring on 
training take up can still be 
improved. Messaging through 
directorates and overview of 
training take up needs to be 
ongoing. Agreed for further 
actions to target through 
managers to improve 
completion rates.   

2 Measure the take up of the new 
strategy for coaching and 
mentoring advice to support 
employees by gender. 

June 
2022 

HR 
Resourcing 
& 
Development 
Manager 

Completed.   
Figures evaluated show that the 
take up of coaching and 
mentoring is representative to 
the make up of the Council’s 
workforce. 

3 Recruitment – Provide additional 
guidance to staff on selection 
panels to have a mix of men and 
women on their panels wherever 
possible.  

June 
2022 

Head of 
Equality & 
Diversity 

Completed. 
Included in Recruitment training 

4 Take positive steps to understand 
the take up and possible barriers to 
men taking up paternity leave from 
consultations with staff.   

October 
2022 

HR Policy 
Team 

Completed 
During staff forums and 
discussions however, no 
barriers have been highlighted.   

5 Review the Council’s Exit Interview 
process to encourage greater take 
up by leavers as a positive step to 
reduce staff turnover and 
understand deeper reasons why 
people are leaving and 
understanding the workplace 
culture.   

October 
2022 

HR Policy 
Team 

In Progress 
The Exit Interview process is 
under review however until the 
Council’s ICT systems has 
transitioned to the new Oracle 
Cloud, this review cannot be 
completed. 

6 Recruitment – Evaluate recruitment 
data over the past 12 months to 
determine whether we need to 
develop targets or positive action 
measures to increase female 
representation into leadership or 
job roles across the Council 

October 
2022 

Head of 
Equality & 
Diversity 

In Progress.  The Council is 
currently developing an 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Workforce Strategy that will 
include developing targets. 

7 Examine the level of female 
returners to work after maternity 
leave, etc. to identify ways to 
maximise the retention of female 
staff in the Council.  

December 
2022 

HR Policy 
Team 

Action Deferred  
The Council is undertaking a 
transition of its HR system to 
Oracle Cloud. Once completed, 
this will enable this information 
to be captured and analysed.  
This action will be carried over 
to year 2023/2024. 

Page 49



 

11 
 

8 Recruitment - Engage with new 
staff appointments by gender over 
the last 12 months on their 
recruitment experience and time 
working in the Council.   

December 
2022 

Human 
Resources 

Action Deferred  
 
Due to staffing capacity issues 
as a result of being unable to 
recruit to Equality & Diversity 
Posts.  
  

9 Tailor a 6 monthly report to monitor 
the progression routes of women 
and men in the Council applying for 
or receiving promotion 

December 
2022 

Head of 
Equality & 
Diversity 

Action Deferred  
 
As per comment in 7 above.  
 

10 Recruitment - Engage with new 
staff appointments by gender over 
the last 12 months on their 
recruitment experience and time 
working in the Council.   

December 
2022 

Human 
Resources 

Action Deferred  
 
As per comment in 8 above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 

12 
 

 

 

Action Plan to March 2024 

Due to the implementation of Oracle Cloud ICT Platform, the action plan below carries forward 
actions outstanding from year 2022/23.  The Council feels that in order to gain a greater 
understanding on the gender issues in the organisation, the actions below are key to progressing 
some of the Council’s work on addressing the Gender Pay Gap in the Council. 

 

 Activity Due By 
End  

Lead Officer Comments 

1 Review the Council’s Exit Interview 
process to encourage greater take 
up by leavers as a positive step to 
reduce staff turnover and 
understand deeper reasons why 
people are leaving and 
understanding the workplace 
culture.   

October 
2023 

HR Policy 
Team 

In Progress 
The Exit Interview process is 
under review however until the 
Council’s ICT systems has 
transitioned to the new Oracle 
Cloud, this review cannot be 
completed. 

2 Recruitment – Evaluate recruitment 
data over the past 12 months to 
determine whether we need to 
develop targets or positive action 
measures to increase female 
representation into leadership or 
job roles across the Council 

October 
2023 

Head of 
Equality & 
Diversity 

In Progress.  The Council is 
currently developing an 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Workforce Strategy that will 
include developing targets. 

3 Examine the level of female 
returners to work after maternity 
leave, etc. to identify ways to 
maximise the retention of female 
staff in the Council.  

October 
2023 

HR Policy 
Team 

Action carried forward from 
2022.  
The Council is undertaking a 
transition of its HR system to 
Oracle Cloud. Once completed, 
this will enable this information 
to be captured and analysed.   
 

4 Recruitment - Engage with new 
staff appointments by gender over 
the last 12 months on their 
recruitment experience and time 
working in the Council.   

October  
2023 

Human 
Resources 

Action carried forward from 
2022.  
 
 

5 Tailor a 6 monthly report to monitor 
the progression routes of women 
and men in the Council applying for 
or receiving promotion 

December 
2023 

Head of 
Equality & 
Diversity 

Action carried forward from 
2022.  
 
 

6 Recruitment - Engage with new 
staff appointments by gender over 
the last 12 months on their 
recruitment experience and time 
working in the Council.   

December 
2023 

Human 
Resources 

Action carried forward from 
2022.  
 
 

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Pay Policy Statement 2023
	Appendix

	6 Statutory Gender Pay Gap Reporting
	Appendix

	8 Minutes

